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FIRST AMENDED COMPLAINT


Plaintiffs Harry Farrell (“Farrell”), John Sugrue (“Sugrue”), Lucia Giacometti (“Giacometti”), Daniel McNamara (“McNamara”) Lisa Vella (“Vella”) and John Duffy (“Duffy”), by their attorney, Sidney H. Kalban, Esq., as and for their Complaint herein, hereby state as follows:


1.  This is an action under Title I of the Labor Management Reporting and Disclosure Act (commonly known as the Landrum-Griffin Act), 29 U.S.C. §401 et seq., for violation of Plaintiffs’ right of free speech, right of free association, right to due process, right to participate in the deliberations and voting at union membership meetings and right to express their views at those membership meetings, as well as the rights of Plaintiffs McNamara and Vella and other members to elect the candidates of their choice to Union office; under §301 of the Labor-Management Relations Act (commonly known as the Taft-Hartley Act), 29 U.S.C. §185; for tortious interference of contractual rights of Plaintiffs Farrell, Giacometti and Sugrue and for breach of contract.  This Honorable Court has jurisdiction over this action pursuant to 29 U.S.C. §412, 29 U.S.C. §185, 28 U.S.C. §1331 and pendent jurisdiction under 28 U.S.C. §1367(a).


2.  Venue is proper in this District pursuant to 29 USC §412 as this is the District where the Landrum-Griffin Act violations occurred and where the principal office of the Union is located.

Parties

3.  In an election of union officials held in November 2002, Plaintiff Harry Farrell was elected as a Senior Business Agent of Local 1-2 (“Local 1-2" or “Union”) of the Utility Workers Union of America, AFL-CIO (“UWUA”), and Plaintiffs Lucia Giacometti, John Sugrue and John Duffy were elected as Business Agents of Local 1-2, all for three year terms.  Said Plaintiffs, at all times pertinent hereto, have been members in good standing of Local 1-2.


4.  Plaintiffs McNamara and Vella, at all times pertinent hereto, have been members in good standing of Local 1-2.


5.  Defendant Emanuel Hellen (“Hellen”) is the President of Local 1-2.  Defendant Jerry Waters (“Waters”) was the Vice President of Local 1-2 at pertinent times hereto until on or about June 28, 2003.  Defendant Robert Conetta (“Conetta”) is the Local 1-2 Secretary-Treasurer.  Defendant Robert O’Brien (“O’Brien”) is the Chairman of the Executive Board of Local 1-2.


6.  Local 1-2 is an unincorporated association which operates as a labor organization representing employees of utility companies in New York City and vicinity.  Local 1-2 is a local union of UWUA with its principal office in New York, New York.  The vast majority of the members of Local 1-2 are employees of Consolidated Edison Co. of N.Y., Inc. (“Con Edison”).


7.  Defendant Ronald Davis (“Davis”) is a partner in the law firm of Davis & Hersh, LLP, and the General Counsel of Local 1-2.

Facts

8.  On February 26, 2003, Plaintiffs Farrell, Giacometti and Sugrue (sometimes jointly referred to herein as the “charged members”) submitted proposed amendments to the By-Laws of Local 1-2.  Said proposed amendments, true and accurate copies of which are attached hereto as Exhibit 1, were submitted to Local 1-2 Secretary-Treasurer Conetta at the first membership meeting of the calendar year, in accordance with Article XXIV, §1 of the existing By-Laws.  One of the proposed By-Law amendments would require an election for the offices of Union President and Vice President should the individual who had been elected President vacate that office.  The other proposed amendment would require the officials and staff of Local 1-2 to be subject to random testing for drugs and alcohol as are the employees of Con Edison. 


9.  On February 26, 2003, Plaintiffs Farrell, Giacometti and Sugrue were placed on “administrative leave” with pay, pending “investigation” of allegations made against them by UWUA Local 1-2 Business Agent Harcourt Cordew (“Cordew”) concerning a lunch meeting with Cordew on February 25, 2003, at which they discussed the proposed By-Law amendments, and concerning prior telephone conversations between Cordew and Farrell during which they discussed issues involving Hellen and Waters and issues related to the proposed By-Law amendments.  Cordew advised Defendant Hellen of his version of the telephone conversations and of the lunch meeting shortly after they had occurred.  Cordew provided Hellen with an affidavit containing his allegations about the lunch meeting and the prior telephone conversations with Farrell.  That affidavit was drafted by Defendant Davis.


10.  Defendant Hellen filed internal union charges dated February 27, 2003, against Plaintiffs Farrell, Giacometti and Sugrue, true and accurate copies of which are attached hereto as Exhibits 2, 3 and 4, respectively.  In those charges, Defendant Hellen alleges that Plaintiffs Farrell, Giacometti and Sugrue defamed him and Defendant Waters, challenged their authority, conspired with UWUA National Vice President Joseph Flaherty to amend the Local 1-2 By-Laws so that Plaintiff Farrell could run for President and/or to prevent Defendant Waters from becoming President and violated “direct orders of the President during a staff meeting on January 31, 2003,” by so conspiring with Flaherty.


11.  In the charges (Exhibits 2-4 hereto), Defendant Hellen designated the date and time of the hearing thereon and designated the General Counsel of Local 1-2 to conduct the hearing and to make all decisions with respect to the hearing procedures, objections by the parties and maintenance of an orderly hearing.  The charges scheduled the hearing for March 11, 2003, beginning at 1:00 PM.  Defendant Hellen also stated in said charges that no adjournment or postponement of the hearing could occur without the approval of the General Counsel; and that it would be a “due process hearing.”


12.  By Summons and Complaint dated March 3, 2003, Hellen instituted a civil action against Farrell, Giacometti and Sugrue for defamation.  Said action was filed in the Supreme Court of the State of New York, County of Nassau, and assigned Index No. 03-003455.  In said action, Hellen was represented by the law firm of Davis & Hersh, LLP.


13.  The bases for charges against a member or officer of Local 1-2 and the procedures for filing those charges and conducting the hearing thereon are set forth in Article XX of the By-Laws of Local 1-2 and in Article XIV of the National UWUA Constitution.  True and accurate copies of those provisions are attached hereto as Exhibits 5 (Local 1-2 By-Laws) and 6 (UWUA Constitution).


14.  The By-Laws of Local 1-2 provide, at Article XX, §4, that the Union’s Executive Board serves as the Trial Committee.


15.  The members of the Local 1-2 Executive Board at all times pertinent hereto were elected to their positions in the same November 2002 election as Defendants Hellen and Waters and as Plaintiffs Farrell, Giacometti and Sugrue.  All of these elected officers ran on the same slate, known as the Justice Party.


16.  By an official “Local 1-2 News Bulletin” with the heading, “An Important Letter from President Hellen and Vice President Waters,” Hellen and Waters informed the membership of Local 1-2 about the suspension of Plaintiffs Farrell, Giacometti and Sugrue; and, in that publication, discussed their allegations against said Plaintiffs.  At the end of that News Bulletin, Hellen and Waters accused Farrell, Giacometti and Sugrue of trying to undermine the effort to make Union officers more accountable for their work and of wanting “things to go back to the way they were before.”  They then indicated that the action they have taken against Farrell, Giacometti and Sugrue was to protect the rights of the members.  That News Bulletin was distributed to the members at their work sites and was mailed to their homes, all at the Union’s expense.  It is unusual that a News Bulletin is mailed to members’ homes.


17.  On or about the evening of March 3, 2003, Defendant Hellen met with the Union’s Executive Board.  At that time, Hellen discussed the charges with the members of the Executive Board, including the alleged basis thereof.  At that meeting, Defendants Hellen and Davis instructed the Executive Board members that they were required to distribute to the membership the leaflet described in ¶16 above.  In addition, Hellen met privately, prior to that meeting, with members of the Executive Board to discuss the charges and the hearing.


18.  By letter dated March 5, 2003, Plaintiffs Farrell, Giacometti and Sugrue, through their attorney, requested a postponement of the hearing until March 25, 2003.  In that letter, a true and accurate copy of which is attached hereto as Exhibit 7, said Plaintiffs also requested copies of documents which indicate the basis for the designation of the Union’s General Counsel as the individual who is to conduct the hearing and a copy of the alleged affidavit of Cordew on which Hellen claimed the charges were based.


19.  By letter dated March 7, 2003 (a true and accurate copy of which is attached hereto as Exhibit 8), Plaintiff Farrell wrote to Defendant O’Brien concerning the violations of the charged members’ rights of due process.  The violations asserted by Farrell at that time included the events at and before the March 3, 2003, Executive Board meeting, the designation of Local 1-2's General Counsel - presumably meaning Defendant Davis - to conduct the hearing and to make all decisions on requests for adjournments and postponements, Hellen’s representation by the law firm of which Davis is a partner in a private law suit against the charged members based on the same allegations as in the charges, the failure to follow rules and procedures established by the National UWUA Constitution and the lack of sufficient specificity in the charges to allow the charged parties to prepare a proper defense.  Farrell concluded the letter with a request that the charges be dismissed because of the due process violations.


20.  By letter dated March 10, 2003 (a true and accurate copy of which is attached hereto as Exhibit 9), Defendant O’Brien responded to the letters referenced in ¶18 and ¶19 above.  In that letter, O’Brien states that (a) an adjournment has been granted with the hearing rescheduled for April 1, 2003; (b) he has been advised that amended charges would soon be filed; (c) all requests for documents are denied; (d) the charged members will not be allowed to have their attorney in the hearing room, but they may consult with him, during breaks only, outside the hearing room; and (e) the request that the Union’s General Counsel not conduct the hearing was granted, but he will be present to assist the Trial Committee and O’Brien as its Chairman.


21.  Defendant Hellen submitted amended Charges dated March 11, 2003 (“Amended Charges”).  True and accurate copies of the Amended Charges against Plaintiffs Farrell, Sugrue and Giacometti are attached hereto as, respectively, Exhibits 10, 11 and 12.


22.  The Amended Charges were drafted by Defendants O’Brien and Davis.  O’Brien revealed this authorship during the subsequent trial on the Amended Charges.


23.  The Amended Charges contained, with a few changes, the allegations which were in Hellen’s original charges.


   (A) In addition, the Amended Charge against Plaintiff Farrell alleges that he complained about an order by Waters to report to the Union office daily unless excused, that he failed to comply with that order and that he failed to process “at least twenty four (24) grievances” in a timely manner; the Amended Charge against Plaintiff Sugrue alleges that he failed to process “at least seventeen (17) grievances” in a timely manner; and the Amended Charge against Plaintiff Giacometti alleges that she misrepresented to Waters where she was on February 25, 2003.


   (B) These additional allegations were not part of the basis for placing Farrell, Giacometti and Sugrue on “administrative leave” on February 26, 2003.


   (C) These allegations were added as a pretext, following notice from Farrell, Giacometti and Sugrue that the original charges violated their rights of free speech and association, and are not valid bases for discipline.


24. (A) The Amended Charges also removed all direct references to efforts to amend the By-Laws and substituted “doing what ever [sic] is necessary.”


   (B) During the subsequent trial on the Amended Charges, Hellen testified that this substitute language meant the effort to amend the By-Laws and did not mention any other act by Plaintiffs Farrell, Giacometti and/or Sugrue to which that language referred.


25.  The Amended Charges against Plaintiff Farrell (Exhibit 10 hereto) change the date of a telephone call between Farrell and Cordew from February 25, 2003, to February 23, 2003, and add allegations that Farrell disparaged Hellen and Waters during an earlier telephone conversation (on February 19, 2003) with Cordew.


26.  By letter of March 14, 2003, from their attorney to O’Brien, Plaintiffs Farrell, Giacometti and Sugrue requested an adjournment of the April 1, 2003, hearing date; access to their files so that they can review papers pertinent to the new allegations; and copies of documents underlying the charges.  A true and accurate copy of that letter is attached hereto as Exhibit 13.


27.  Prior to their receipt of the Amended Charges, Plaintiffs Farrell, Giacometti and Sugrue mailed Charged Members’ Motion To Dismiss to each member of the Union’s Executive Board.  A true and accurate copy of that Motion is attached hereto as Exhibit 14.


28.  By letter dated March 19, 2003, Defendant O’Brien (a) denied all motions to dismiss the charges, (b) denied the charged members’ request for adjournment, (c) denied the charged members’ request for access to their files, although allowing them to make another request for specific information or files, (d) denied their request for a copy of Cordew’s affidavit or any other document on which the charges were allegedly based, (e) denied their request for copies of certain Union expense records and (f) advised that the name of the Trial Committee’s legal advisor had not yet been determined.  A true and accurate copy of that letter is attached hereto as Exhibit 15.


29.  By letter dated March 21, 2003, the charged members, through their attorney, explained in further detail the reason for their request for adjournment, repeated their request to identify which of the Union’s attorneys would be the Trial Committee’s legal advisor (and pointed out the problems of due process with regard to each such attorney), noted the decrease in specificity in the Amended Charges when compared to the original charges and that they remained as vague where they do not differ, again requested copies of the Cordew affidavit and other documents on which the charges are based, again requested copies of the records of Farrell and Sugrue regarding the grievances which they allegedly failed to process properly, again requested copies of certain expense records of the Union and reminded O’Brien of the impropriety of the ex parte communications which Hellen and his lawyers have had with members of the Trial Committee.  A true and accurate copy of that letter is attached hereto as Exhibit 16.


30.  O’Brien responded by letter dated March 27, 2003, a true and accurate copy of which is attached hereto as Exhibit 17.  In that letter, he advises that the Trial Committee on that date had denied the motions to dismiss, he again denies the request for an adjournment, he again denies the request for copies of certain expense records, he denies the request for access to the charged members’ files but states that copies of grievances files and the Cordew affidavit would be forwarded, advises that Ronald Davis would be the Trial Committee’s legal advisor and denies the request for more specifics concerning the charges.


31.  Local 1-2 did deliver copies of records regarding 17 grievances and a copy of the Cordew affidavit to the charged members’ attorney on March 28, 2003.  The 17 grievance records were for all the grievances to which reference is made in the Amended Charges against Sugrue and for some of the grievances to which reference is made in the Amended Charges against Farrell.  No records were included regarding the other grievances mentioned in the Amended Charges against Farrell.


32.  The employer involved in those grievances, Con Edison, did not raise any objection with regard to the timeliness of the grievances or of their processing.


33.  Con Edison had never raised any timeliness objection with regard to any grievance handled by Sugrue or Farrell.


34.  Sugrue and Farrell handled the 17 grievances mentioned in ¶31 hereof in much the same manner as they had handled other, similar grievances during their service as Business Agent or Senior Business Agent of Local 1-2.  Defendant Waters had actual or constructive knowledge of this procedure and had not criticized or otherwise adversely commented on it prior to the filing of the Amended Charges.


35.  The 17 grievances were properly handled by Sugrue and Farrell in accordance with instructions from Waters, as follows:


   (A) Sugrue had previously talked to Waters about his backlog of grievances.


   (B) Waters informed him that if they were “bullshit” grievances, Sugrue did not have to process them any further but should submit them to the Grievance Committee when it next met. Sugrue complied with that direction.


   (C) Sugrue provided the records of the 17 grievances to Waters for processing by the Grievance Committee as soon as he learned that a Committee meeting was to be held in January 2003.


   (D) There had not been any Grievance Committee meeting between July 2002 and January 2003.


   (E) Each and every one of those 17 grievances was pre-sented to the Grievance Committee in January 2003 and was found by that Committee to be without merit.


   (F) The Grievance Committee is chaired by Waters.


36.  No records were ever provided to Sugrue, Farrell and/or their attorney - nor any evidence introduced at the subsequent hearing - with regard to any grievances allegedly processed improperly by Sugrue and/or Farrell other than the 17 mentioned in ¶31 hereof.


37.  By Notice dated March 19, 2003, Hellen, through his attorneys Davis & Hersh, LLP, withdrew his civil action, without prejudice, against Farrell, Giacometti and Sugrue.


38.  The trial on the Amended Charges was held in New York, New York, on April 1 and 2, 2003.


39.  The Trial Committee consisted of the members of the Union’s Executive Board, except that Executive Board member Robert Farrell was excluded from the Trial Committee on the basis that he is the brother of one of the charged members, Harry Farrell.  Two members of the Trial Committee did not attend the second day of hearing; and a third was removed by Defendant O’Brien because he did not return on time from the lunch break on the second day.


40.  Defendant O’Brien served as chairman of the Trial Committee.


41.  Defendant Davis served as counsel to the Trial Committee.


42.  A transcript of the hearing was made by Susan L. Cohen, a court reporter.


43.  During the hearing, Defendant O’Brien informed the members of the Trial Committee that they do not have to comply with the Landrum-Griffin Act in the course of the trial and in their consideration of the charges against Farrell, Giacometti and Sugrue.


44.  During the hearing, Defendant Davis informed the members of the Trial Committee that they should not consider any issues involving the Landrum-Griffin Act in the course of the trial and in their consideration of the charges against Farrell, Giacometti and Sugrue.


45.  Shortly after the opening of the hearing, Farrell, on behalf of himself and the other charged members, moved that Davis  be excluded from the hearing on the bases that (a) he and his law firm have acted as private attorneys for Hellen regarding some of the issues which were before the Trial Committee (and, although the lawsuit for defamation against Farrell, Sugrue and Giacometti has been withdrawn, that was done in a manner that would permit it to be filed again) and therefore cannot be a neutral advisor to the Trial Committee; and (b) he is not a member of the Union and the National UWUA Constitution states that only members may attend proceedings of a Trial Committee.  O’Brien denied that motion and confirmed that Davis would represent the Trial Committee at the hearing.  O’Brien further stated that the Trial Committee was not recognizing the trial provisions of the National UWUA Constitution.


46.  During the course of the hearing, O’Brien equated the evidence presented by Hellen, as charging party, and Waters, as hearing counsel for Hellen, as the case on behalf of Local 1-2.


47.  A copy of what purported to be the Cordew affidavit was produced at the hearing.  Despite requests by Sugrue and Farrell at various times during the hearing, the original of the Cordew affidavit was not produced.  The copy produced at the hearing was not dated, other than a telefax date of “03/28/03" at the top of each page.  The copy indicates that there is a three minute gap between the transmission of the first page of the three page document and the transmission of the other two pages.  There is no indication on that document of the location from where or to where it was sent.  Cordew could not recall, during his testimony at the hearing, on what date he signed the affidavit, but did recall that it was drafted by Davis.


48.  Both the original and the Amended Charges contain allegations that Farrell, Sugrue and Giacometti referred to Hellen as a “drunk” or otherwise expressed concerns about his drinking and behavior. During the hearing, O’Brien would not permit Farrell or Sugrue to ask witnesses certain questions or otherwise pursue certain evidence about Hellen’s behavior or about Hellen’s consumption of alcoholic beverages.


49.  Cordew testified at the hearing, inter alia, 


   (A)that the conspiracy in which Farrell, Giacometti and Sugrue were engaged was to defame the Union’s president by calling him a drunk; and


    (B) in response to leading questions from Trial Committee member Bonanno, that parts of the conspiracy were speaking to a labor attorney to figure out a way to “force an election so that Hellen can’t turn over the union to Waters” and asking Cordew to be Farrell’s running mate in an election.


50.  Hellen testified at the hearing that a conspiracy is when two or more Union “officers get together to undermine the local and the president of this organization ... without conferring with the president ... and proceeding to discuss it with other agents.”  He further testified that the conspirators are Giacometti, Sugrue and Farrell; that they conspired to propose a by-law which he considered an attack on the Vice President of Local 1-2 and to suggest to other officers that Waters is not competent to take over as President of the Union; and that they tried to organize a “coup” against the incumbent officials by expressing their problems about the Union’s leadership to other agents rather than to the President and Vice President.


51.  Hellen testified that Farrell, Sugrue and Giacometti had committed malfeasance by speaking with a National UWUA officer after being told at the January 31, 2003, staff meeting that they were not to do so and by trying to undermine him by saying that he and Waters do not have credibility with any company.


52.  Hellen testified that Farrell, Sugrue and Giacometti had committed misfeasance by undermining him and Waters, such as telling somebody that he was derelict in his duties without first having discussed that matter with him.


53.  Hellen testified that Farrell, Sugrue and Giacometti had committed nonfeasance by “plotting against and bad-mouthing” him to other agents or other fellow officers and that, by so doing, they were not carrying out their duties.


54.  Hellen testified that Farrell, Sugrue and Giacometti had misused their offices by, during business hours, defaming him and by plotting to overthrow the incumbent Union officers.  According to this testimony, the misuse of office included convening with and encouraging other officers to join with them to suggest that Waters is incapable of taking over the position of President of Local 1-2 should Hellen leave that position.


55.  Hellen, during his testimony, withdrew his charge of defamation of character.  However, the alleged statements about him and Waters continued to be the foundation of the other charges against Farrell, Giacometti and Sugrue.


56.  O’Brien would not permit Farrell to question Hellen about the differences between the original charges and the Amended Charges.


57.  Waters stated during the hearing that the reference in the original charges to the “drafting of new By-Laws” was changed in the Amended Charges to “doing whatever is necessary” in response to the request from the charged members’ attorney for greater specificity.


58.  Hellen testified at the hearing with a prepared summary before him.  That summary was introduced as an exhibit at the hearing and indicated at its top that it was sent as a telefax from the law office of Davis & Hersh LLP.


59.  Hellen’s “investigation” of the allegations against Farrell, Giacometti and Sugrue consisted exclusively of speaking to Cordew and obtaining his affidavit.  He never spoke to Farrell, Giacometti or Sugrue about any of the allegations.


60.  When asked during the hearing what Farrell, Giacometti and Sugrue were doing to keep Waters from becoming President, Hellen testified that they had proposed a change in the By-Laws and that they had a right to do that.


61.  O’Brien, at the hearing, refused to allow the charged members to introduce the proposed By-Law amendments as exhibits or otherwise show them to the Trial Committee members.


62.  During the hearing, O’Brien would not allow Farrell, Sugrue or Giacometti to ask questions or obtain answers about disparate treatment, such as about what if any discipline was imposed on other business agents for alleged offenses, or about how other agents processed grievances.


63.  O’Brien, during the hearing, ruled that the charged members could not recall Cordew as a witness regardless of any testimony or other evidence from later witnesses.


64.  O’Brien would not allow the charged members to call witnesses at the hearing in the order they desired.  He dictated that they had to testify before they could call any other witnesses.


65.  There was no evidence at the hearing that any of the charged members met with Joseph Flaherty on or after January 31, 2003.


66.  There was no evidence at the hearing that any of the charged members violated any direct (or indirect) order of Hellen issued at a January 31, 2003, staff meeting.


67.  There was no evidence at the hearing that any of the charged members conspired to take over the Union so Farrell could run for Union President.


68.  The only evidence at the hearing of any action by the charged members which would allow Farrell to run for Union President (prior to the next Local 1-2 election of officers in accordance with the existing By-Laws) was that they supported and submitted a proposed amendment to the By-Laws which would require an election for Union President should the elected incumbent vacate that office.


69.  There was no evidence at the hearing that any of the charged members plotted against the Union.


70.  There was no evidence at the hearing that Farrell complained about any order from Waters to report daily to the Union office unless he was excused from doing so; nor that he refused to comply with that order.


71.  During the hearing, O’Brien stated that if the charged members had not proposed amendments to the By-Laws, “maybe this Trial Committee wouldn’t have to be here and we wouldn’t have to be doing what we’re doing right now” and that the charged members might not have thought the proposed amendments necessary if they had asked Hellen whether he was going to leave Local 1-2 for the National UWUA.


72.  Much of the questioning by the Trial Committee members, and considerable colloquy among them, involved the substance and merits of the proposed By-Law amendments and the impact they would have if passed.


73.  Trial Committee member Joseph Bonanno asked Sugrue, given the effort to amend the By-Laws and the discussion of possible candidates to run for President and Vice President in the event of vacancy, “Are you going to sit there and tell me there was no conspiracy to take over the local?  It seems kind of fishy, all these things coming around, there is no conspiracy. ... You don’t see any conspiring going on there?”


74.  Trial Committee member Julie Biscaino asked Sugrue, “So based on the information that you have given us and how you viewed things and the fact that you had the two bylaw changes with you and Mr. Cordew viewed one of them, wouldn’t you think that was a conspiracy, the purpose would be a conspiracy?”


75.  Several Trial Committee members questioned the charged members whether they were forming another party, splitting away from the Justice Party or were disloyal to the Justice Party.


76.  Trial Committee member Brendan Sheehan, for example, asked Giacometti whether, by promoting the amendment to the By-Laws which would require election of President and Vice President in the event of vacancy, she was willing to “put up this [Justice} party” against that risk.  Referring to the Justice Party, Sheehan said, “I don’t understand [why Giacometti] would put it up for grabs.”  He also asked Farrell whether he had a responsibility to discuss any proposed By-Law amendment with other members of the Justice Party before submitting it.


77.  Sheehan also asked Farrell, “You don’t feel you are putting the local under retaliation, we have to go to an election again after coming off one?”; and “If the bylaws go through and your fantasy comes true, are you willing to run against the Justice Party on your own slate?”  Sheehan later commented, “The point I am trying to make is that this is affecting the Justice Party ...  We have an officer who is saying he is willing to run as an independent eight months before the contract.”


78.  Other Trial Committee members who expressed these concerns included John McGrath, Michael Keenan (who commented to Farrell that by running for Union President, he “would divide the Justice Party slate.  That’s what you would do. ... I haven’t seen the bylaw, but in order for you to run you would have to divide the Justice Party slate.”), Joseph Bonanno (“Harry, you just said ... that if this bylaw was to come in effect or was approved, that you would run as an independent.”) and Victor Caso (“But it more likely appears you were putting a ticket together for your own personal gain.”).


79.  During the hearing, members of the Trial Committee expressed concern that the charged members had acted in secrecy, had engaged in “too much cloak and dagger” and had failed to discuss the proposed By-Law amendments with them, the members of the Executive Board, before obtaining signatures from rank and file members and submitting the proposed amendments to the membership.


80.  O’Brien would not allow the charged members to make closing statements to the Trial Committee.


81. (A) O’Brien and other Trial Committee members held ex parte discussions with Hellen and Waters during breaks in the hearing.


    (B) O’Brien and other Trial Committee members held ex parte discussions with Hellen and Waters after the close of evidence at the hearing and before the Trial Committee’s deliberations.


    (C) Davis held ex parte discussions with Hellen and Waters during breaks in the hearing.


   (D) Davis held ex parte discussions with certain Trial Committee members during breaks in the hearing.


    (E) Davis held ex parte discussions with Hellen and Waters  after the close of evidence at the hearing and before the Trial Committee’s deliberations.


    (F) Davis held ex parte discussions with certain Trial Committee members after the close of evidence at the hearing and before the Trial Committee’s deliberations.


82.  O’Brien instructed the Trial Committee that they will not discuss the evidence but will proceed directly to a vote.


83.  O’Brien instructed the Trial Committee that because Hellen stated it would be difficult, if not impossible, for him to work any longer with Farrell, Giacometti or Sugrue, the only discipline on which they would vote is expulsion as officers.  When questioned about this direction by a member of the Trial Committee, O’Brien responded that this is the way it was going to be, that the member was out of order by even asking the question and that there will be no more discussion.


84.  The majority of the Trial Committee voted to find each of the charged members “guilty” on all aspects of the Amended Charges other than the charge of defamation which Hellen had withdrawn during the hearing.


85.  The majority of the Trial Committee voted to expel Farrell, Sugrue and Giacometti from their offices.


86.  O’Brien sent each of the charged members a letter dated April 4, 2003, informing them of the vote of the Trial Committee and that the Trial Committee’s decision does not become effective until the Union membership acts on the Committee’s recommendations at the next general membership meeting.


87.  After the decision of the Trial Committee but before the next general membership meeting, Hellen, Waters and/or their political allies caused the Union to issue official “Local 1-2 News Bulletins” which supported the Trial Committee’s decision and attacked the charged members.  The costs of those News Bulletins were paid by the Union.


88.  The News Bulletin dated April 8, 2003, stated, inter alia, “At the April 30, 2003, Union membership meeting, you the members will be entitled to ratify the Trial Committee’s determination.” (Emphasis added.)


89.  In that same News Bulletin, Hellen, Waters and/or their political allies wrote that this was a time when the Union was preparing for collective bargaining on “all contracts” and so “this membership needs to demonstrate to the companies that it will face the upcoming challenges and negotiations as a unified body.  The Union does not need, or want, any officers who fail to perform their duties for this membership.”


90.  The April 8, 2003, News Bulletin was distributed by the Union, using Union officers and shop stewards, so that it was available to all members of Local 1-2.


91.  The News Bulletin dated April 16, 2003, had a banner headline, “Officers Were Asked to Be More Accountable,” and stated, inter alia, “During an investigation of Senior Business Agent Harry Farrell and Business Agents Lucia Giacometti and John Sugrue involving their actions against the good of the membership, it was discovered (among other things) that written daily log sheets, i.e., locations, were falsified and didn’t match call-in reports.”  No such allegation was included in the original or the Amended Charges.


92.  The April 16, 2003, News Bulletin then continued to say, “Following all procedures of Local 1-2's by-laws, the independent Trial Committee - after two days of hearings involving witnesses and testimony presented by all sides - found the three Officers guilty of the charges and determined that they be expelled from all elected Union duties.


“When Members commit these offenses on the job, they are terminated.  Should Union Officers be any different?” (Emphasis in the original)


93.  The April 16, 2003, News Bulletin was distributed by the Union, using Union officers and shop stewards, so that it was available to all members of Local 1-2.


94.  The Union, using Union officers and shop stewards, also distributed News Bulletins dated April 17, 2003, and April 22, 2003, in a manner that they were available to all members of Local 1-2.  Those News Bulletins discussed the charges against Farrell (April 17) and, jointly, Giacometti and Sugrue (April 22).  Each contained the same language from the April 16 News Bulletin quoted in ¶92 above, with the sole exception of limiting the reference to the charged member(s) named in that leaflet.


95.  It was the intent of these four News Bulletins issued in April 2003 to seek approval of the removal of the charged members from Union office and thereby prejudice the membership of Local 1-2 against Farrell, Giacometti and Sugrue.


96.  On or about April 23, 2003, Union Business Agent Duffy on his own time, distributed a leaflet which supported Farrell, Sugrue and Giacometti.  Waters called Duffy into the Local 1-2 office that day and gave him an oral warning for distributing that leaflet.


97.  O’Brien issued a “Report of the Trial Committee” dated April 24, 2003.  A true and accurate copy of that “Report” is attached hereto as Exhibit 18.


98.  O’Brien issued the “Report of the Trial Committee” without reconvening the Trial Committee and without the in-put of all of the other Trial Committee members.


99.  No Trial Committee member was permitted or given the opportunity to file a dissent to the “Report”.


100.  Farrell, Giacometti and Sugrue did not receive a copy of the “Report of the Trial Committee” earlier than April 28, 2003, just two days before the membership meeting.


101.  A general membership meeting was held on the evening of April 30, 2003.  It took place in the auditorium of Washington Irving High School, New York, New York.


102.  The first substantive business conducted at that membership meeting was the submission of the Trial Committee’s Report.  Hellen turned the gavel over to Waters to chair this portion of the meeting.  The Report was read to the membership at the meeting by O’Brien.


103.  Article XX, §7 of the Local 1-2 By-Laws states, in pertinent part: “At the meeting of the Local Union, the accused shall be accorded full opportunity to present his position on all matters bearing upon his trial and the report of the trial committee.”


104.  Waters told Farrell, Giacometti and Sugrue that they were limited to ten minutes each to address the membership regarding the Trial Committee Report.


105.  Waters told Farrell that he would speak first.


106.  When Farrell and Sugrue tried to explain that the three charged members had prepared a different order and that Sugrue would speak first, Waters stated that if Farrell did not speak first, he would not be allowed to speak at all.


107.  While Waters spoke from a microphone and podium on the stage of the auditorium, Farrell, Sugrue and Giacometti were required to speak from a microphone on the floor of the auditorium in front of the stage.


108.  Shortly after Farrell began to speak, Waters interrupted him and began to say that some of his comments were “out of order.”  There was then a disturbance in the audience.  Some members of the audience were heckling Farrell and others were yelling and holding up signs for the members to vote “Yes” on the Trial Committee Report.  One of the hecklers was standing directly in front of Farrell and just a few feet away.  That heckler started to advance toward Farrell in a threatening manner, but was intercepted by a Sergeant-at-Arms and escorted away.  Some supporters of the charged members began to yell back.


109.  There were at least 50 Sergeants-at-Arms at the meeting, far more than normal.  The Sergeants-at-Arms are selected by Hellen and his allies and are paid by the Union to be at the meeting.  Other than stopping the attempted physical attack on Farrell, there was no effective attempt by the Sergeants-at-Arms to quiet the members who were heckling Farrell or were calling for members to vote “Yes”.


110.  Several Sergeants-at-Arms charged through the doors of the balcony seating area and proceeded to yell at and threaten supporters of the charged members.


111.  Both before and during this disturbance, Waters kept reminding Farrell that his time to speak was limited and that he only had a certain number of minutes left.  Waters also told the audience that the disturbance and the noises which preceded it were taking away time for Farrell to speak.


112.  Farrell could not speak while the disturbance was occurring.  During the period when the Sergeants-at-Arms were involved in the disturbance in the balcony, Waters did not reduce the time left for Farrell to speak, but kept repeating that Farrell only had five minutes left.


113.  When Farrell was finally able to continue his address to the membership, Waters continued to interrupt him by stating the number of minutes he had left to speak.  A member in the second row, directly in front of Farrell, began to heckle Farrell in a manner similar to the heckler who had been escorted away and continued to heckle Farrell during the remainder of the speech.


114.  The interruptions by Waters and the nearby hecklers, together with the long disruption caused by the disturbance in the audience, detracted the membership’s attention from Farrell’s speech.


115.  Waters dictated that Sugrue would speak next and then Giacometti.  He repeatedly stated during their addresses the limited number of minutes they had left.


116.  Due to the ten minute limitations on their addresses to the membership, Farrell, Sugrue and Giacometti were not able to present their full positions at the membership meeting.  Farrell was further prevented from presenting his full position - and, thus, the positions of the other charged parties - by the constant interruptions by Waters, by the heckling and by the disturbance.


117.  There is no provision in the Local 1-2 By-Laws for the charging party to address the membership at the meeting.  That right is established by Article XIV, §15-A of the National UWUA Constitution.


118.  Waters scheduled Hellen to speak last.  Waters did not limit the amount of time which Hellen was permitted to speak to the membership concerning the charges and the Trial Committee Report.


119.  Hellen spoke for more than ten minutes on these subjects without any interruption from Waters.


120.  Hellen was inaccurate in his statements to the members.  For example, he told the members that he could not have brought the charges in retaliation for Farrell, Sugrue and Giacometti having supported the By-Law amendments because he did not even know of those proposed amendments at the time he brought the charges.


121.  Hellen did know about the proposed By-Law amendments by the time he filed the original charges against Farrell, Giacometti and Sugrue on February 27, 2003.


   (A) The testimony at the hearing is that Hellen was informed by Cordew on either February 24 or February 26, 2003, of what Farrell had said during their telephone conversations and, on the later date, of the conversation Cordew had with all of the charged members on February 25, all of which included discussions about the proposed By-Law amendments.


    (B) In the March 4, 2003, “Local 1-2 News Bulletin” Hellen and Waters state, in their signed “Important Letter,” that they placed Farrell, Giacometti and Sugrue on “Administrative Leave” on February 26, 2003, after Cordew reported to Hellen about the February 25 lunch meeting and the earlier telephone conversations, including the charged members’ intent to propose a By-Law amendment which would stop Waters’ automatic ascension to Union President should Hellen vacate that office.


    (C) The proposed By-Law amendments were submitted to Conetta at the membership meeting on February 26, 2003.


122.  Immediately following Hellen’s speech, Waters directed that the members begin to vote regarding the Trial Committee Report.


123.  The wording on the ballot was as set forth on the Sample Ballot, a true and accurate copy of which is attached hereto as Exhibit 19.


124.  The members were not called to vote in any orderly fashion.  There was a rush to the front of the auditorium to line up and vote.  This resulted in constant noise and commotion in the auditorium while the voting was being conducted.


125.  The voting was being conducted by secret ballot in the hallway and lobby of the school, outside the auditorium.  It was overseen by an independent organization named election.com.  There were only six voting booths provided.  The voting took over two hours to be completed.


126.  While members were voting and there was a great deal of noise in the auditorium from the members who were waiting to vote, Hellen resumed the chair of the meeting and went through the other agenda items.


    (A) Few if any members were paying attention to those proceedings.


    (B) Few if any members could pay attention to those proceedings given the great deal of noise being made by the members waiting to vote.


127.  Numerous members left the building without having voted.


128.  Very few members returned to the auditorium after they voted.


129.  One of the matters on the meeting agenda was the report of the By-Law Committee concerning the proposed amendments submitted by Farrell, Sugrue and Giacometti.  The charged members were not able to hear that report because of the noise in the auditorium.  No one was given an opportunity to discuss that report.


130.  Plaintiff Duffy received a copy of the report of the By-Law Committee several weeks later.  A true and accurate copy of that report is attached hereto as Exhibit 20.


131.  In that report, the By-Law Committee totally rejected the proposed amendment regarding succession should there be a vacancy in the office of President.


132.  None of the sponsors of that proposed amendment was given an opportunity to change it so that it would satisfy any objection which the By-Law Committee might have had.


133.  It has been the past practice of Local 1-2 for the By-Law Committee to give any sponsor of a proposed By-Law amendment the opportunity to make whatever changes are necessary so that the proposal would satisfy any objections which the Committee might have.


134.  In its report, the By-Law Committee substantively changed the proposed By-Law amendment which would require random drug and alcohol testing of Union officers and staff.  The proposed amendment included in the Committee’s report omits any requirement that the program be modeled after the random drug testing program of Con Edison.  It also provides that the President of Local 1-2 will oversee the creation of the program and that the results of the random tests will be reported to the Union President, who will take necessary, corrective actions.  The proposed amendment submitted by Farrell, Sugrue, Giacometti and others placed those duties with the Executive Board, the body established under the By-Laws with authority second only to that of the membership itself.


135.  There were over 1100 people present in the auditorium in Washington Irving High School during the time Farrell, Sugrue and Giacometti were speaking on April 30, 2003.


136.  There were 841 ballots cast concerning the Trial Committee Report; one of which was void and three challenged, leaving a total of 837 ballots counted.  The tally reported by election.com was that 407 members voted to disapprove the Report with regard to Harry Farrell and 430 voted to approve it; 420 members voted to disapprove the Report with regard to Lucia Giacometti and 415 voted to approve it; and 405 voted to disapprove the Report with regard to John Sugrue and 430 voted to approve it.


137.  As a result of the voting, Giacometti was returned to her position as Business Agent effective the following morning (May 1, 2003); and Farrell and Sugrue were informed by letter dated May 2, 2003, that as a result of the membership vote, they were no longer officers of Local 1-2.


138.  Following the meeting, Farrell wrote to Conetta requesting information about the report of the By-Law Committee and a copy of that report if it was in writing.


139.  By letter dated May 12, 2003 (a true and accurate copy of which is attached hereto as Exhibit 21), Conetta informed Farrell that since he (Farrell) is no longer an officer of Local 1-2 and is not employed by any employer within the Union’s jurisdiction, Farrell is “deemed not to be a member in good standing of the Union.”  Conetta therefore refused to provide any information to Farrell about the By-Law Committee report.


140.  Both Farrell and Sugrue received accrued vacation pay due from the Union through the month of May 2003.  Union dues were deducted from their pay during that period.


141.  Farrell and Sugrue have not received any salary or benefits from Local 1-2 once their accrued vacation pay expired on or about May 31, 2003.


142.  By their election as Senior Business Agent and Business Agent, respectively, Plaintiffs Farrell and Sugrue were also elected as Delegates to the National UWUA Convention.  That Convention was held in Puerto Rico, from June 25, 2003, through June 28, 2003.  As a result of the expulsion of Farrell and Sugrue from their offices in Local 1-2, Defendants and their political allies did not permit them to serve as Delegates to the National UWUA Convention.


143.
 As a result of Defendants’ actions set forth above, Plaintiffs Farrell, Sugrue and Giacometti have suffered emotional distress and loss of reputation.  Defendants have acted in bad faith, with actual malice and/or reckless or wanton indifference to the rights of Plaintiffs.

AS AND FOR A FIRST CAUSE OF ACTION

Landrum-Griffin Act, 29 U.S.C. §411(a)(2)

144.  Plaintiffs hereby re-allege Paragraphs 1-143 above and incorporate them by reference as if fully set forth herein.


145.  Defendant Hellen, by issuing, signing and filing the original charges violated the free speech rights of Plaintiffs Farrell, Sugrue and Giacometti under 29 U.S.C. §411(a)(2).


146. Defendant Hellen, by issuing, signing and filing the original charges violated the rights of Plaintiffs Farrell, Sugrue and Giacometti under 29 U.S.C. §411(a)(2) to meet and assemble freely with other members of Local 1-2, including but not limited to members Cordew and Flaherty.


147.  Defendants Davis, O’Brien and Hellen, by drafting, issuing, signing and filing the Amended Charges violated the free speech rights of Plaintiffs Farrell, Sugrue and Giacometti under 29 U.S.C. §411(a)(2).


148.  Defendants Davis, O’Brien and Hellen, by drafting, issuing, signing and filing the Amended Charges, violated the rights of Plaintiffs Farrell, Sugrue and Giacometti under 29 U.S.C. §411(a)(2) to meet and assemble freely with other members of Local 1-2, including but not limited to members Cordew and Flaherty.


149.  All Defendants, by denying Plaintiffs Farrell, Sugrue and Giacometti due process in the manner in which the charges were pursued, the hearing was conducted and the membership meeting was conducted, violated  the free speech rights of Plaintiffs Farrell, Sugrue and Giacometti under 29 U.S.C. §411(a)(2).


150.  All Defendants, by denying Plaintiffs Farrell, Sugrue and Giacometti due process in the manner in which the charges were pursued, the hearing was conducted and the membership meeting was conducted, violated the rights of Plaintiffs Farrell, Sugrue and Giacometti under 29 U.S.C. §411(a)(2) to meet and assemble freely with other members of Local 1-2, including but not limited to members Cordew and Flaherty.


151.  All Defendants, by pursuing the Amended Charges, have violated the free speech rights of Plaintiffs Farrell, Sugrue and Giacometti under 29 U.S.C. §411(a)(2).


152.  All Defendants, by pursuing the Amended Charges, have violated the rights of Plaintiffs Farrell, Sugrue and Giacometti under 29 U.S.C. §411(a)(2) to meet and assemble freely with other members of Local 1-2, including but not limited to members Cordew and Flaherty.


153.  All Defendants, by placing Plaintiffs Farrell, Giacometti and Sugrue on “Administrative Leave” pending the “investigation” of the charges against them, violated their rights under 29 U.S.C. §411(a)(2).


154.  Defendants, by their actions set forth in ¶¶145-153 above, retaliated against Plaintiffs Farrell, Giacometti and Sugrue for the exercise of their rights under 29 U.S.C. §411(a)(2). 


155.  All Defendants, by removing and/or causing the removal of Plaintiffs Farrell and Sugrue from their elected positions have violated their rights under 29 U.S.C. §411(a)(2).


156.  All Defendants, by removing and/or causing the removal of Plaintiffs Farrell and Sugrue from their elected positions have retaliated against them for the exercise of their rights under 29 U.S.C. §411(a)(2).


157.  As a result of the aforesaid actions by Defendants, Plaintiffs Farrell, Sugrue and Giacometti are entitled to such compensatory, prospective, exemplary and punitive damages as this Honorable Court deems just and proper.

AS AND FOR A SECOND CAUSE OF ACTION

Landrum-Griffin Act, 29 U.S.C. §411(a)(5)


158.  Plaintiffs hereby re-allege Paragraphs 1-143 above and incorporate them by reference as if fully set forth herein.


159.  Plaintiffs Farrell and Sugrue are retired as employees of Con Edison and are not employees of any other company with which Local 1-2 has a collective bargaining relationship.


160.  Removal of Plaintiffs Farrell and Sugrue from their positions as elected officers of Local 1-2 is tantamount to their removal as members of the Union.  Defendants were and are aware of this consequence of the removal of these Plaintiffs from their positions as elected officers.


161.  Accordingly, by their conduct described above, Defendants have violated the rights of Plaintiffs Farrell and Sugrue to a full and fair hearing as required under 29 U.S.C. §411(a)(5), including but not limited to the following:


(A) Designation of the original hearing date by Hellen, the charging party, denied Farrell and Sugrue a full and fair hearing.


(B) Hellen’s designation of Davis to conduct the hearing denied Farrell and Sugrue a full and fair hearing.


(C) Hellen’s ex parte meeting with the Executive Board, which was to serve as the Trial Committee, on or about March 3, 2003, denied Farrell and Sugrue a full and fair hearing.


(D) As of March 3, 2003, Davis’s law firm had appeared as Hellen’s private attorneys in his civil action for defamation against Farrell, Giacometti and Sugrue.  Accordingly, Davis’s ex parte meeting with the Executive Board, which was to serve as the Trial Committee, on or about March 3, 2003, denied Farrell and Sugrue a full and fair hearing.


(E) The failure of the original and Amended Charges to state the allegations with sufficient specificity denied Farrell and Sugrue a full and fair hearing.


(F) O’Brien’s refusal to have the Union produce certain expense records which relate to Hellen’s drinking and other behavior denied Farrell and Sugrue a full and fair hearing.


(G) The refusal of the charged members’ request for an adjournment from the April 1 hearing date, so that their attorney would be available, even outside the hearing room, to advise them, denied Farrell and Sugrue a full and fair hearing.


(H) Providing the charged members with a copy of Cordew’s affidavit and the grievance files only a few days before the April 1 hearing date denied Farrell and Sugrue a full and fair hearing.


(I) O’Brien serving as Chairman of the Trial Committee denied Farrell and Sugrue a full and fair hearing since he had helped draft the Amended Charges.


(J) Davis serving as counsel to the Trial Committee denied Farrell and Sugrue a full and fair hearing since his office served as Hellen’s private attorney in a related civil action against the charged members, he is not a member of the Union and he had helped draft the Amended Charges.


(K) O’Brien’s refusal to allow the charged members to develop relevant evidence denied Farrell and Sugrue a full and fair hearing.  This evidence would have concerned, inter alia, disparate treatment, grievances processed by other agents and Hellen’s drinking and apparently related behavior.


(L) O’Brien’s refusal to allow the charged parties to recall Cordew as a witness denied Farrell and Sugrue a full and fair hearing.


(M) The instructions from O’Brien and Davis to the Trial Committee members that they were not to consider the charged members’ rights under the Landrum-Griffin Act denied Farrell and Sugrue a full and fair hearing.


(N) The pre-judgment of the case by certain Trial Committee members denied Farrell and Sugrue a full and fair hearing.


(O) The concern of Trial Committee members that the charged members’ actions could harm the Justice Party or could have other political repercussions within the Union denied Farrell and Sugrue a full and fair hearing.


(P) The concern of Trial Committee members regarding the possible impact of the By-Law amendments proposed by the charged members denied Farrell and Sugrue a full and fair hearing.


(Q) The concern of the Trial Committee regarding with whom the charged members did or did not speak regarding the proposed By-Law amendments prior to their submission, including the expressed concern by Trial Committee members that the charged members did not speak to them about the proposed amendments, denied Farrell and Sugrue a full and fair hearing.


(R) O’Brien denied Farrell and Sugrue a full and fair hearing by his refusal to allow the charged parties to present their defense in the order they desired.


(S) O’Brien denied Farrell and Sugrue a full and fair hearing by his refusal to allow the charged members to make closing statements to the Trial Committee.


(T) The ex parte discussions which O’Brien and other Trial Committee members held with Hellen and Waters and the ex parte discussions which Davis held with Hellen, Waters and certain Trial Committee members denied Farrell and Sugrue a full and fair hearing.


(U)  O’Brien’s instruction to the Trial Committee members that they will not discuss the evidence but will proceed directly to a vote denied Farrell and Sugrue a full and fair hearing.


(V) O’Brien denied Farrell and Sugrue a full and fair hearing by instructing to the Trial Committee that because Hellen stated it would be difficult, if not impossible, for him to work any longer with Farrell, Giacometti or Sugrue, the only discipline on which they would vote is expulsion as officers.


(W) Defendants denied Farrell and Sugrue a full and fair hearing by using Union funds to distribute leaflets to the Union membership which attacked the charged members and/or urged that the Trial Committee decision be ratified.


(X) O’Brien denied Farrell and Sugrue a full and fair hearing by issuing the “Report of the Trial Committee” without reconvening the Trial Committee and without the in-put of all of the other Trial Committee members.


(Y) O’Brien denied Farrell and Sugrue a full and fair hearing by his failure and/or refusal to permit any Trial Committee member to file a dissent to the “Report”.


(Z) Defendants denied Farrell and Sugrue a full and fair hearing by their failure to deliver a copy of the “Report of the Trial Committee” to the charged members earlier than April 28, 2003, just two days before the membership meeting, thereby depriving them of the opportunity to prepare a full response thereto.


(AA) Waters denied Farrell and Sugrue a full and fair hearing by dictating the order in which the charged members would speak at the April 30 membership meeting.


(BB) Waters denied Farrell and Sugrue a full and fair hearing by limiting the charged members to ten minutes each in which to present their positions with regard to the trial and the Trial Committee Report.


(CC) Waters denied Farrell and Sugrue a full and fair hearing by his failure and refusal to accord the charged members full opportunity in which to present their positions with regard to the trial and the Trial Committee Report.


(DD) Waters denied Farrell and Sugrue a full and fair hearing by his statement that some of Farrell’s comments were out of order.


(EE) Waters denied Farrell and Sugrue a full and fair hearing by his interruption of the charged members’ speeches before the membership at the April 30 meeting.


(FF) Waters and Hellen denied Farrell and Sugrue a full and fair hearing by their failure and refusal to control the audience and/or the Sergeants-at-Arms, thereby allowing Farrell’s speech to the members to be interrupted.


(GG) Waters denied Farrell and Sugrue a full and fair hearing by his requirement that the charged members address the membership at the April 30 meeting from a microphone on the auditorium floor.


(HH) Waters denied Farrell and Sugrue a full and fair hearing by his scheduling Hellen’s speech just before the members would vote and by his failure and refusal to limit Hellen to the time limit imposed on each of the charged members.


(II) Defendants denied Farrell and Sugrue a full and fair hearing by their failure to conduct the April 30 meeting and the voting in an orderly manner.


(JJ) Defendants denied Farrell and Sugrue a full and fair hearing by their failure to keep order while the members were voting on April 30.


(KK) Defendants denied Farrell and Sugrue a full and fair hearing by their failure to have more than six voting booths available for the members to cast their votes on April 30.


(LL) Defendants denied Farrell and Sugrue a full and fair hearing by their conducting the April 30 meeting and voting in such a manner that numerous members left without having voted.


162.  As a result of the aforesaid actions by Defendants, Plaintiffs Farrell and Sugrue are entitled to such compensatory, prospective, exemplary and punitive damages as this Honorable Court deems just and proper.

AS AND FOR A THIRD CAUSE OF ACTION

Landrum-Griffin Act, 29 U.S.C. §411(a)(2)


163.  Plaintiffs hereby re-allege Paragraphs 1-143 above and incorporate them by reference as if fully set forth herein.


164.  As a result of the actions which Defendants have taken against Plaintiffs Farrell, Giacometti and Sugrue, Plaintiffs McNamara and Vella are afraid to speak freely to other members of the Union concerning the leadership of Local 1-2, to file a proposal to amend any By-Law or otherwise to petition for change in the policies of the Union.


165.  By their conduct described above, Defendants have chilled the rights of Plaintiffs McNamara, Vella and other Union members to free speech and free assembly under 29 U.S.C. §411(a)(2).

AS AND FOR A FOURTH CAUSE OF ACTION

Taft-Hartley Act, 29 U.S.C. §185


166.  Plaintiffs hereby re-allege Paragraphs 1-143 and 161(A)-(LL) above and incorporate them by reference as if fully set forth herein.


167.  The National UWUA Constitution is a contract among the National UWUA and all of its locals and is thus an agreement among labor organizations within the meaning of 29 U.S.C. §185.


168.  As members in good standing of the Union at all times pertinent hereto, Plaintiffs Farrell, Giacometti and Sugrue are third-party beneficiaries of the National UWUA Constitution and entitled to the rights and protections thereunder.


169.  The National UWUA Constitution provides at Article XIV, §7-A, that no formal hearing on charges brought against a member or officer shall take place any “earlier than thirty (30) days from the date of the certified notice of hearing so that both parties can adequately prepare for the trial.”


170.  This provision of the National UWUA Constitution expresses the position of the National UWUA that due process requires notice of the charges at least thirty days before a hearing can be scheduled.


171.  The Amended Charges contained allegations against Farrell, Giacometti and Sugrue which were substantively different from those in the original charges.


172.  Defendants did not permit Farrell, Sugrue and Giacometti to have thirty days from the date of notice to them of the Amended Charges until the date of the hearing.


173.  By so denying Plaintiffs Farrell, Sugrue and Giacometti such thirty days to prepare for the hearing, Defendants, individually and collectively, violated the rights of these Plaintiffs under the National UWUA Constitution.


174.  Article XIV, §8-A of the National UWUA Constitution provides, “Only members of the Utility Workers Union of America may attend the proceedings of the Trial Committee.”  There is no provision in the Local 1-2 By-Laws on this issue.


175.  By permitting Davis to attend the proceedings of the Trial Committee involved herein and to serve as counsel to the Trial Committee, O’Brien violated the rights of Plaintiffs Farrell, Giacometti and Sugrue under the National UWUA Constitution.


176.  Article XIV, §11-A of the National UWUA Constitution provides that the charged party “shall have a fair and impartial hearing and shall have the right to make an opening statement, to be present throughout the hearing, to offer witnesses and evidence, to confront and cross examine witnesses, and to make a closing statement.”  The Local 1-2 By-Laws is silent on these details of the hearing.


177.  By their actions set forth above, including but not limited to ¶161(A)-(LL), Defendants, individually and collectively, have violated the rights of Plaintiffs Farrell, Giacometti and Sugrue under the National UWUA Constitution to a fair and impartial hearing, to offer witnesses and evidence, to confront and cross-examine witnesses and to make closing statements.  In addition, although the charged members were allowed to be present throughout the formal hearing, they were not allowed to be present at all times that Hellen, Waters and Davis were speaking to members of the Trial Committee about the charges or matters related thereto.


178.  As a result of the aforesaid actions by Defendants, Plaintiffs Farrell, Sugrue and Giacometti are entitled to such compensatory, prospective, exemplary and punitive damages as this Honorable Court deems just and proper.

AS AND FOR A FIFTH CAUSE OF ACTION

Tortious Interference with Contracts


179.  Plaintiffs hereby re-allege Paragraphs 1-143, 161(A)-(LL) and 167-178 above and incorporate them by reference as if fully set forth herein.


180.  By their aforesaid acts, Defendants, individually and collectively, have tortiously interfered with the rights of Plaintiffs Farrell, Giacometti and Sugrue under the National UWUA Constitution.


181.  The Local 1-2 By-Laws are a contract between the Union and its members.


182.  As members in good standing of the Union at all times pertinent hereto, Plaintiffs Farrell, Giacometti and Sugrue are parties to the Local 1-2 By-Laws and entitled to the rights and protections thereunder.


183.  Article XX, §6 of the Local 1-2 By-Laws provides, in pertinent part, that the “Trial Committee shall ... hear all evidence including the defense of the accused ...”


184. By their aforesaid acts, Defendants, individually and collectively, have tortiously interfered with this right of Plaintiffs Farrell, Giacometti and Sugrue under the Local 1-2 By-Laws as well as their right under Article XX, §7, discussed in ¶103 above, to have a “full opportunity” to present their positions before the membership at the April 30 meeting.


185.  As a result of the aforesaid actions by Defendants, Plaintiffs Farrell, Sugrue and Giacometti are entitled to such compensatory, prospective, exemplary and punitive damages as this Honorable Court deems just and proper.

AS AND FOR A SIXTH CAUSE OF ACTION

Breach of Contract


186.  Plaintiffs hereby re-allege Paragraphs 1-143, 161(A)-(LL), 181 and 182 above and incorporate them by reference as if fully set forth herein.


187.  In the original charges (Exhibits 2-4), in the March 19, 2003, letter from O’Brien (Exhibit 15) and at the hearing, Plaintiffs Farrell, Giacometti and Sugrue were assured by Defendants that they would have a due process hearing.


188.  Plaintiffs Farrell, Giacometti and Sugrue relied on those assurances and proceeded through the hearing and the membership vote.


189.  By their actions set forth above, including but not limited to ¶161(A)-(LL), Defendants, individually and collectively, have breached their agreements with Plaintiffs Farrell, Giacometti and Sugrue, including but not limited to the Local 1-2 By-Laws, and have deprived those charged members of the promised due process hearing.


190.  As a result of the aforesaid actions by Defendants, Plaintiffs Farrell, Sugrue and Giacometti are entitled to such compensatory, prospective, exemplary and punitive damages as this Honorable Court deems just and proper.

AS AND FOR A SEVENTH CAUSE OF ACTION

Interference with Members’ Right to Elect Officers


191.  Plaintiffs hereby re-allege Paragraphs 1-143 above and incorporate them by reference as if fully set forth herein.


192.  The Landrum-Griffin Act assures members of labor organizations of their right to elect their officers and to be represented by the officers they elect.  See, e.g., 29 U.S.C. §481(b) and (e).


193.  Plaintiffs McNamara and Vella were among the members of Local 1-2 who elected Plaintiff Farrell to be a Senior Business Agent and Plaintiffs Giacometti and Sugrue to be Business Agents of the Union.


194.  Defendants’ actions as set forth above deprived Plaintiffs McNamara and Vella and other Union members of representation by Plaintiff Giacometti during the time she was placed on “administrative leave” from February 26, 2003, through and including April 30, 2003.


195.  Defendants’ actions as set forth above have deprived Plaintiffs McNamara and Vella and other Union members of representation by Plaintiffs Farrell and Sugrue from February, 26, 2003, through the date of this Complaint and continuing until they are reinstated to their prior offices.


196.  Defendants’ actions as set forth above have chilled the rights of other officers to speak out when they disagree with any actions of Defendants Hellen and/or Waters or with any policies and procedures implemented by Defendants Hellen and/or Waters; and have thereby deprived Plaintiffs McNamara and Vella and other Union members of proper representation by the other elected officers of Local 1-2.

AS AND FOR AN EIGHTH CAUSE OF ACTION

Interference with Members’ Rights under 29 USC §411(a)(1) & (2)

The September 25, 2003, Meeting


197.  Plaintiffs hereby re-allege Paragraphs 1-143 above and incorporate them by reference as if fully set forth herein.


198.  Plaintiff John Duffy was a signatory of the proposed By‑Law amendments (see Exhibits 1 and 2 to this Complaint) and had openly expressed his support for Plaintiffs Farrell, Sugrue and Giacometti.


199.  From in or about June 2003 through September 2003, Defendant Hellen filled approximately eleven vacant elected positions in Local 1‑2.  These included the offices of Vice President, two Senior Business Agents, two Business Agents, five Executive Board members and one Financial Observer.


200.  Among the positions to be filled were those declared vacant after the vote on the Trial Committee decision to remove Plaintiffs Farrell and Sugrue from their respective offices.


201.  The Bylaws of Local 1‑2, Article VIII, Section 8 states in pertinent part:

When vacancies occur among the elected officers, the President shall fill said vacancy, after consultation with the elected officers, and report same at the next regularly scheduled membership meeting at which time the membership shall ratify the appointment or proceed to elect a successor at that meeting.


202.  Defendant Hellen, as Local 1‑2 President, did not consult with all elected officers before filling the vacancies in issue.  He, specifically, did not consult with Business Agents Lucia Giacometti and John Duffy nor with Executive Board members Andy O'Connell, Robert Farrell and Philip Murray before he filled the vacant positions from June through September 2003. 


203.  By letter dated August 13, 2003, counsel for the Plaintiffs, on behalf of the Plaintiffs, advised counsel for the Defendants herein that there were questions and concerns as to the procedures that Defendant Hellen would employ in bringing the vacancy appointments to the floor at the September membership meeting.  A true and accurate copy of said letter is annexed hereto as Exhibit 22. 


204.  Among the points raised in the letter were: the need to permit nominations from the floor; the need for a secret ballot election, monitored by an impartial third‑party organization; and the need for all‑day balloting as many members cannot make the regular meeting hours due to their work shifts.  In addition, a request was made not to fill the Sugrue and Farrell vacancies due to the pendency of this litigation which contests the legality of their removal from office.


205. By letter dated August 22, 2003, Defendants' attorney stated that he has no intention to respond to the August 13 letter.


206. Upon information and belief, the August 13, 2003, letter was forwarded to the in‑house General Counsel for Local 1‑2, Kevin Jenkins.  During a telephone conversation on or about September 4, 2003, Mr. Jenkins advised Plaintiffs' counsel that he would be the Local 1‑2 attorney addressing any issues regarding the vote at the September 25 meeting to fill the vacant positions.  He also confirmed that the August 13 letter had been forwarded to him and that he would call Plaintiffs' counsel the following day after he had a chance to discuss the issues with his client. 


207.  Not having heard anything further from Mr. Jenkins, on or about September 11, 2003, counsel for the Plaintiffs, on behalf of the Plaintiffs herein, sent a letter to General Counsel Jenkins.  It was again pointed out that statutory rights of the membership of Local 1‑2 were being violated.  A copy of this letter is annexed hereto as Exhibit 23.


208.  No written response to the September 11, 2003 letter was ever received.


209.  On or about September 16, 2003 a leaflet was distributed to the general membership of Local 1‑2 in the name of the Local Union.  In sum and substance, the leaflet urged the members to approve Hellen's appointments to fill the vacant positions at the September 25 membership meeting.  The leaflet did not advise that the membership had the right to reject the names and/or to propose additional names.


210.  On September 18, 2003, a letter signed by Plaintiffs Duffy, Sugrue, Giacometti and Farrell, among others, was delivered to the Union's office, addressed to Defendant Hellen and a copy was delivered on that same date to Defendant Conetta, also at the Local 1‑2 office. This letter was also faxed to the union office.  A copy of this letter is annexed hereto as Exhibit 24. 


211. In this letter, the signatories stated that the membership had the right to accept or reject Defendant Hellen's choices for the vacancies and to elect other members instead, if they so chose.  They further stated that Defendant Hellen had the obligation to request nominations from the floor before voting took place.


212.  It was in keeping with the past practice in Local 1‑2 to request nominations from the floor before submitting the name of any appointed officer to the membership for ratification.


213.  The September 18 letter also requested voting by secret ballot rather than by voice vote and noted that the vote should be by all day balloting because many members cannot attend the scheduled union meeting due to their work schedules.


214.  It was the past practice of Local 1‑2, pursuant to a court decision issued in 1991, to provide 15 days written notice of any regular membership meeting and of any vote on proposed amendment of the By‑Laws, sent by first class mail to all members. 


215.  The signers of the September 18 letter pointed out that the required 15 days notice was not given with regard to the September 25 vote on the proposed By‑Law amendment.  They therefore requested Defendant Hellen to postpone the election and By-Law vote from September 25 to the date of the November membership meeting, at which time the Union could set up all‑day balloting on both the By‑Law amendment and the vacancies.


216.  No response to this letter was ever sent to Plaintiffs or their counsel.


217.  The next regular meeting was scheduled for and held on September 25, 2003 at Washington Irving High School.  Defendants did not send written notice of this meeting, by first class mail, to all Union members.


218.  On September 25, 2003, prior to the meeting, a letter signed by Plaintiffs Duffy, Giacometti and Farrell, among others, was delivered to the Union's office, addressed to Defendant Hellen and a copy was delivered on that same date to Defendant Conetta, also at the Local 1‑2 office.  A copy of this letter is annexed hereto as Exhibit 25.  In this letter, the signatories submitted a motion that whether the appointments to the vacant officer positions be ratified or those positions filled by other members should be determined by a secret ballot vote and that such vote be postponed to such date as set by the members at the meeting.  They requested Defendant Hellen, as the customary presiding officer, to present the motion at the meeting and further stated that, otherwise, a member would rise, prior to any voting, to make the motion so that the membership could vote on it.


219.  The Bylaws of Local 1‑2, at Article V, Section 8, provide that parliamentary procedure at all meetings shall be governed by Roberts Rules of Order, revised, except as otherwise provided for in the By‑Laws.


220.  The September 25, 2003, membership meeting of Local 1‑2 was chaired by Defendant Hellen.


221.  There were even more Sergeants‑at‑Arms present at this meeting than at the April 30 membership meeting.


222.  During the course of the meeting, a motion was made from the floor, after the member was recognized by Defendant Hellen, to change the order of business.


223.  The effect of the motion was to bring the question of the vacancies to the floor earlier in the meeting than if the standard order of business was followed.


224.   A motion to change the order of business is a debatable motion.


225.  Plaintiff Duffy rose and called for a point of order.


226.  Defendant Hellen ruled Plaintiff Duffy out of order without allowing him to state the purpose of the point of order.


227.  Defendant Hellen, in his ruling, stated that Plaintiff Duffy was out of order because he had made a motion while another motion was on the floor.


228.  Under Robert's Rules of Order, a point of order takes precedence over a main motion.


229.  Plaintiff Duffy, pursuant to Robert's Rules of Order, immediately moved to appeal the ruling of Defendant Hellen.


230.   Defendant Hellen refused or declined to call a vote on the appeal of his ruling that Plaintiff Duffy's point of order was out of order.


231.  The motion to change the order of business passed.


232.  Defendant Hellen then announced the names of the members whom he selected to fill the vacancies of elected positions.  There was no formal motion to ratify the slate of vacancy appointments.


233.  No nominations were taken from the floor.


234.  No debate or other discussion on the proposed ratification was held or opened by Defendant Hellen.


235.  Defendant Hellen never asked the membership if it was ready for the question of ratification of his appointments.


236.  No secret ballot was taken on the issue.  Defendant Hellen did not advise the membership of the motion submitted in the September 25 letter (Exhibit 25 hereto) nor would he recognize Plaintiff Duffy to allow him to make the motion.


237.  Defendant Hellen called for all those in favor of the selections to say "Aye".


238.  No request for the votes against ratification was ever made and, thus, the votes against ratification were never cast and the vote with regard to ratification was never completed.


239.  While Defendant Hellen was announcing his appointments, Plaintiff Duffy was repeatedly seeking to raise a point of order.  Defendant Hellen either ignored Plaintiff Duffy or ruled him out of order.  He never even permitted Plaintiff Duffy to state his point of order.


240.  Plaintiff Duffy appealed any and all rulings by Defendant Hellen that his request to make a point of order was out of order.  Defendant Hellen consistently ignored those appeals and failed and/or refused to present them to the members for a vote.


241.  Following the partial "vote" on ratification of his appointments, Defendant Hellen announced that ratification had carried.


242.  Plaintiff Duffy immediately moved for a division of the house on that issue.  That motion was ignored by Defendant Hellen.


243.  The September 25 membership meeting was being videotaped by rank‑and‑file members of the Union from the area of the auditorium seats.


244.  After he announced the "ratification" of his appointments, Defendant Hellen turned the microphone over to Defendant Conetta to read the minutes of the prior meeting.


245. Defendant Hellen interrupted the report of the Secretary‑Treasurer and ordered that the members turn off the video‑cameras.  He stated, at various times, that there was a court order which prohibits any videotaping of the membership meeting and that the only tape permitted was the official audiotape; and that the videotaping was prohibited because of a pending court action.


246.  A member called out from the audience for Defendant Hellen to show him a copy of the court order.  No court order was ever produced.


247.  There is no court order which prohibits rank‑and‑file members from videotaping a Local 1‑2 membership meeting.


248.  No objection to the taping of the meeting had been made up to that point.


249.  Some members who supported the videotaping and/or who had voiced their opposition to the manner in which Defendant Hellen had conducted the "vote" on ratification of his appointments were thereupon assaulted.


250.  The assailants were supporters of Defendant Hellen.


251.  (A) Defendant Hellen, as President of Local 1-2, was obligated under Article IX, Section 1, to preserve order at membership meetings.



(B) No efforts were made by Defendant Hellen to halt the attacks or otherwise preserve order at the September 25, 2003, membership meeting.  He did not direct his Sergeants‑at‑Arms to restrain the assailants; nor did the Sergeants‑at‑Arms attempt to do so.


252.  Defendant Hellen adjourned the meeting, stating as his basis the continuing presence of the cameras.


253.  Defendant Hellen, by failing to let Plaintiff Duffy state his points of order violated the Union's By‑Laws and the rights of Plaintiffs and other members under 29 U.S.C. §411(a)(1) and (2) to participate in the deliberations and business of the Union, to express their views at membership meetings, to vote upon the business of membership meetings, to nominate candidates and to meet and assemble freely with other members of Local 1‑2.


254.  Defendant Hellen, by failing to call for or to allow discussion on the issue of approval of his appointments to vacancies in offices violated the Union's By‑Laws and the rights of Plaintiffs and other members under 29 U.S.C. §411(a)(1) and (2) to participate in the deliberations and business of the Union, to express their views at membership meetings, to vote upon the business of membership meetings, to nominate candidates and to meet and assemble freely with other members of Local 1‑2.


255. Defendant Hellen, by failing to conduct the meeting in accordance with the Union's By‑Laws, including Robert's Rules of Order, violated those By‑Laws and the rights of Plaintiffs under 29 U.S.C. §411(a)(1) and(2) to participate in the deliberations and business of the Union, to express their views at membership meetings, to vote on the business of membership meetings, to nominate candidates and to meet and assemble freely with other members of Local 1‑2. 


256.  Defendant Hellen, by failing to conduct the vote to fill the vacancies in elected offices in accordance with the Union's By‑Laws ‑ including Robert's Rules of Order ‑ and the Union's past practice, violated those By‑Laws and the rights of Plaintiffs under 29 U.S.C. §411(a)(1) and(2) to participate in the deliberations and business of the Union, to express their views at membership meetings, to vote on the business of membership meetings, to nominate candidates and to meet and assemble freely with other members of Local 1‑2.


257.  Defendant Hellen, by failing to preserve order at the September 25 meeting, violated the Union's By‑Laws and the rights of Plaintiffs under 29 U.S.C. §411(a)(1) and (2) to participate in the deliberations and business of the Union, to express their views at membership meetings, to vote on the business of membership meetings, to nominate candidates and to meet and assemble freely with other members of Local 1‑2.


258.  Defendants Hellen and Conetta, by failing to give the Union’s members at least fifteen days written notice, delivered by first class mail, of the September 25, 2003, meeting violated the rights of Plaintiffs and all other Local 1-2 members under 29 U.S.C. §411(a)(1) and (2).


259.  Defendants Hellen, Conetta and Union, by failing to conduct the vote on ratification of Defendant Hellen’s appointments by all day balloting violated the rights of members of Local 1-2 to under 29 U.S.C. §411(a)(1) to an equal right to attend membership meetings and to participate in the deliberations and voting at those meetings.


260.  Defendant Hellen, by failing to consult with all of the elected officers of Local 1-2 before filling vacancies in offices, violated the Union’s By-Laws and, thus, any purported vote to ratify Defendant Hellen’s appointments to those offices is null and void.

AS AND FOR A NINTH CAUSE OF ACTION

29 U.S.C. §411(a)(2) and (5) and 29 U.S.C. §529


261.  Plaintiffs hereby re‑allege Paragraphs 1‑143 and 197-257 above and incorporate them by reference as if fully set forth herein.


262.  Subsequent to the membership vote which, inter alia, restored Plaintiff Giacometti to her position as Business Agent, Defendant Hellen removed previously assigned duties from Plaintiffs Duffy and Giacometti. 


263.  The change of duties was calculated to reduce and restrict these Plaintiffs' contact and communications with Union members and to damage their reputations.


264.  The reassignment and reduction of duties was initiated by Defendant Hellen without any prior complaint about the manner in which these Plaintiffs perform their duties.


265.  The reassignment and reduction of duties was initiated in reprisal and retaliation for Plaintiffs Giacometti and Duffy voicing opinions contrary to those of Defendant Hellen.


266. Neither Plaintiff Giacometti nor Plaintiff Duffy was served with any written charges prior to the reassignment and reduction of duties.


267. Neither Plaintiff Giacometti nor Plaintiff Duffy was orally or otherwise informed of any unsatisfactory performance in representing the Union's members prior to ‑ or after ‑ the reassignment and reduction of duties.


268.  Accordingly, by their conduct described above, Defendants have violated the rights of Plaintiffs Duffy and Giacometti under 29 U.S.C. §411(a)(2) and (5).


269.  Accordingly, by their conduct described above, Defendants have retaliated against Plaintiffs Duffy and Giacometti for their exercise of their rights under 29 U.S.C. §411(a)(2).


270.  By their conduct described above, Defendants have disciplined Plaintiffs Duffy and Giacometti in retaliation for their exercise of their statutory rights and have thereby violated 29 U.S.C. §529.


271.  As a result of the aforesaid actions by Defendants, Plaintiffs Giacometti and Duffy are entitled to such compensatory, prospective, exemplary and punitive damages as this Honorable Court deems just and proper.

Prayer for Relief

272.  Wherefore, Plaintiffs pray that this Honorable Court grant them the following relief:


(A) Grant Preliminary and Permanent Injunctions that Defendants withdraw all charges against Plaintiffs Farrell and Sugrue and reinstate them to their positions as Senior Business Agent and Business Agent, respectively;


(B) Grant Preliminary and Permanent Injunctions that Defendants reinstate Plaintiffs Farrell and Sugrue to their membership in Local 1-2 and their positions as Delegates to the National UWUA Convention;


(C) Grant Preliminary and Permanent Injunctions that Defendants cease and desist from any action which violates a member’s right of free speech under the Landrum-Griffin Act;


(D) Grant Preliminary and Permanent Injunctions that Defendants cease and desist from any action which violates a member’s right of free association under the Landrum-Griffin Act;


(E) Enjoin Defendants, individually or in any combination, from taking any action in the future which impinges on the right of any member, including any elected officer, to speak openly and freely with regard to any matter of concern to Union members or on the right of any member, including any elected officer, to associate freely with any other member;


(F)  Enjoin Defendants to publish a statement, signed by them, in an official publication of Local 1-2, in which they apologize to all Plaintiffs for violating their statutory rights and their rights under the Local 1-2 By-Laws and National UWUA Constitution, in which they acknowledge that they filed and pursued the charges against Plaintiffs Farrell, Giacometti and Sugrue in violation of those individuals’ statutory rights, in which they acknowledge that Plaintiffs Farrell, Giacometti and Sugrue did not commit any act for which they could properly be disciplined and in which they affirm that they will not take any action in the future which impinges on the right of any member, including any elected officer, to speak openly and freely with regard to any matter of concern to Union members or on the right of any member, including any elected officer, to associate freely with any other member;


(G) Award Plaintiffs Farrell, Giacometti, Sugrue and Duffy such compensatory, prospective, exemplary and punitive damages as this Honorable Court deems just and proper;


(H) Enjoin Defendant Hellen from filling any vacancy in an elected office unless and until he has consulted with all elected officers;


(I) Declare the "vote" to fill vacant local union offices taken at the September 25, 2003 membership meeting to be null and void; 


(J) Enjoin all persons whose appointment was allegedly ratified at the September 25, 2003, membership meeting from acting in those capacities; 


(K) Direct that an election be held to fill the vacant offices, following nominations from the membership, to be conducted by secret ballot at an all‑day meeting under the supervision of election.com or other designated impartial overseer;


(L) Grant Preliminary and Permanent Injunctions that Defendants, individually or in any combination, cease and desist from conducting membership meetings other than in full compliance with the Union's By‑Laws, including Robert's Rules of Order;


(M) Grant Preliminary and Permanent Injunctions that Defendants, individually or in any combination, cease and desist from prohibiting or attempting to prohibit rank‑and‑file members videotaping membership meetings;


(N) Grant Preliminary and Permanent Injunctions that Defendants, individually or in any combination, permit members to state their points of order at membership meetings; 


(O) Grant Preliminary and Permanent Injunctions that Defendants, individually or in any combination, conduct fair votes at membership meetings on any appeal from any ruling of the chair;


(P) Grant Preliminary and Permanent Injunctions that Defendants, individually or in any combination, recognize and honor any call by member(s) at membership meetings for division of the house;


(Q) Grant Preliminary and Permanent Injunctions that Defendants, individually or in any combination, take all appropriate actions to prevent their supporters, at membership meetings or elsewhere, from engaging in violent activity against members who have exercised their statutory rights of freedom of speech and/or assembly;


(R) Enjoin Defendants, individually and collectively, to provide all Local 1-2 members at least fifteen days written notice, delivered by first class mail, of all membership meetings;


(S) Direct that plaintiffs Giacometti and Duffy be restored to the duties and responsibilities that were theirs prior to the reassignment and reduction of their duties; and 


(T) Award Plaintiffs their costs and counsel fees herein.

Dated: December 4, 2003


Respectfully submitted,
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